1986

# McCune and McCune, et al, v. Mountain Bell Telephone, McCune and McCune, et al, v. Public Service Commission of Utah: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The Public Service Commission did not act properly, but with passion, bias, and prejudice, insufficient evidence, insufficient findings, disregard of the issues it should have decided, and shirking of its responsibility to review tariffs for lawfulness and constitutionality.

2. The present tariff regarding transfer of bills to other accounts is unlawful under statutory and case law, the PSC improperly avoided construction of the word "customer" in Mountain Bell's tariffs, and the PSC improperly avoided interpretation of the tariffs previously and now in existence regarding transfer of account balances from one phone number to another.

3. The Public Service Commission made a mistake in disregarding the distinctions between legal entities, their rights and benefits, and the necessary due process and equal protection and other constitutional standards; overlooked the unconstitutional nature of the telephone monopoly's tariffs, practices, and procedures pertaining to billing

of one account by transfer to another account and of granting or denying service or credit to public utility customers; and in prescribing fair, reasonable, and proper tariffs regarding transfer of accounts from one telephone number to another.

4. The Public Service Commission has disregarded the distinction between regular commerce in the free marketplace where competition exists and the monopolistic nature of public utilities.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES,  
RULES AND REGULATIONS

Title 54, Chapters 1-8, UCA 1953  
Tariff A2.2.1 of Mountain Bell  
Tariff A2.2.3.2(4) of Mountain Bell in effect July 1984  
Tariff A2.2.3.2(3) of Mountain Bell in effect now  
Tariff A2.3.2, A2.3.3.A, A2.3.3.B  
Article 1, Sections 1, 2, 3, 7, and 11, Utah Constitution  
Article 5, Section 1, Utah Constitution  
Amendment 14, Section 1, U. S. Constitution  
Rule 52, URCP

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves correct and proper determination by the Public Service Commission of germane issues of a presently stayed Third District Court suit involving causes alleging improper termination of telephone service, negligence, and unlawful and unconstitutional transfer of telephone account balances from a partnership account to personal residence and also sole proprietorship telephone accounts of the partners of the partnership. The Public Service Commission dismissed Plaintiffs' complaint by Report and Order issued November 15, 1985, after a pre-trial conference and subsequent hearing before an Administrative Judge; Plaintiffs filed an Application for Review or Rehearing with the PSC; the PSC denied the application by Order Denying Application for Rehearing dated December 20, 1985; and this Writ of Review was commenced by

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. On February 11, 1885, Plaintiffs/Appellants commenced a lawsuit against defendant Mountain Bell and certain other separate individuals to among other things recover money damages for unconstitutional acts and omissions including breach of contract and negligence and to declare certain practices and any tariffs allowing them to be unlawful and unconstitutional and to permanently enjoin defendant and the other defendants named in said suit from engaging in said practices against plaintiffs in the future. R250, R250, R250

2. Since filing said suit, defendant submitted law indicating that the Public Service Commission of Utah had primary original jurisdiction to hear and determine matters pertaining to certain allegations raised in the Third District Court suit, petitioners stipulated to a stay of the district court action until the Public Service Commission could decide certain issues over which the PSC had original jurisdiction.

3. On March 19, 1885, the District Court suit was stayed until the PSC could hear issues over which it had jurisdiction.

4. On March 7, 1985, a PSC complaint was filed by petitioners, Case No. 85-049-03. R107

5. On September 3, 1985, a pre-trial conference was held at which the administrative judge declined to hear

whether or not termination of service at a private residence phone number after transfer of a business account to that private residence violated the law and tariffs in existence at the time saying that since service had been restored, the question was moot. R107

6. The administrative judge, however, did say at the pre-trial conference that at the hearing to be held later he would hear the following questions:

The validity of the transfer of the partnership debt to the individual partner business telephone number under the tariff then existing at the time the transfer was initially made and under the tariffs as they are currently in effect.

The justness, reasonableness, and conformity with existing law of the tariffs regarding transfer of accounts as they now exist.

R193-194

7. The administrative judge held a hearing on October 11, 1985, at which he manifested from the start a prejudiced and biased attitude; a lack of interest in the significance of the issues presented; and a expedience is more important than justice disposition. It was very difficult for Plaintiffs even to be allowed to present testimony. R197

7. On November 15, 1985, the PSC issued a Report and Order delineating the administrative judge's analysis report for the commission to review and approve which contained the administrative judge's findings and conclusions. The findings did not reflect any evidence about the cost of administra-

tive hearings or the cost to rate payers to collect unpaid partnership phone bill accounts through regular judicial proceedings, nor did they contain any findings regarding the reasonableness of the tariff now in existence, its justness, constitutionality, or lawfulness regarding transfer of one outstanding phone bill to another phone bill at either a personal residence account or a sole proprietor account. R197-199

8. The administrative judge's findings also failed to address any of the questions of the justness, reasonableness, or conformity with existing law of the transfer tariff in effect at the time of the transfer to the personal residence account of one of the partners or to the sole proprietor account of the other partner during the months of June 1984 and January 1985. R198

9. Indeed, the administrative judge's findings stated inaccurate statements of the evidence as to basic dates.

10. The administrative judge's conclusions commenced by reciting an irrelevant provision of the Public Utilities statute dealing with rates questions.

He then completely avoided the question of "interpreting the transfer tariff" (its lawfulness) and also its justness, reasonableness, etc. and went off on a justification trail creating his logic that even though partnership law requires partnership assets to be exhausted before partner individual assets and rights can be touched, the phone monopoly can refuse service and credit just as a normal merchant can in

a regular competitive market, so they had the right to do so to the partner with the sole proprietor account. R199-203

11. The administrative judge also failed in his conclusions to construe the meaning of "customer" in the phone monopoly's tariff. He then makes statements that rates will be impacted if partnership accounts need be collected from regular judicial small claims actions but no evidence about how many partnership service accounts in a year or other period of time arise where transfer to an individual partner are made or any other testimony or evidence regarding rates. R199-203

12. The Commission next disclosed their prejudice, bias, and passion by irrelevant commentary and remarks wholly misappropo to the objective review of the issues and facts presented at hearing in evidence. R203-204

13. The Commission once again displayed their bias by curtly denying a detailed Application for Rehearing or Review which set forth creditable argument and case law showing the error of the administrative judge's analysis. R228-229

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The administrative judge and commissioner reflected attitudes of bias, prejudice, and passion through the judges actions at the hearing and the written comments of the order. The findings lack attention to relevant facts and the conclusions

lack proper evidence to support their regular rates.

Business telephone accounts can not be transferred to resident accounts under the Utah Case Law. The tariff on transfer needs change. Nor is it right to transfer legal entities bill to another.

Constitutional procedural and equal protection are violated when partnership law is circumvented by the phone company.

The tariffs for advance payments and deposits provide subtle security for one granting of telephone service and public utilities are not regular free enterprise business with regular influence.

## STANDARDS OF REVIEW OF PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ORDERS

At the beginning, it may be helpful to delineate the standards of review established by this honorable court for Writs of Review of Public Service Commission orders:

1. Findings are reviewed to see if they are supported by substantial evidence.
2. Regarding general principles of law - statutory or case - including constitutional questions - the Supreme Court takes no deference to the PSC.
3. The High Court will not defer to even the organic statute unless the PSC, by virtue of the PSC's expertise and experience, is in a superior position to give effect to the regulatory objectives or the provisions of the statute make it clear that the PSC was intended to have broad discretion in construing.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>Big K Corp v PSC, 689 P2d 1349 (Utah 1984); Utah Dept. of Administrative Services v PSC, 658 P2d 601 (Utah 1983).



THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DID NOT ACT PROPERLY, BUT WITH PASSION, BIAS, AND PREJUDICE, INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE, INSUFFICIENT FINDINGS, DISREGARD OF THE ISSUES IT SHOULD HAVE DECIDED, AND SHIRKING OF ITS RESPONSIBILITY TO REVIEW TARIFFS FOR LAWFULNESS AND CONSTITUTIONALITY.

Did the Public Service Commission act with passion and prejudice in their review of the matter?

Administrative tribunals, "must be as above suspicion and reproach as courts themselves."<sup>1</sup>

A prejudiced or biased judge deprives the party adversely affected of due process of law.<sup>2</sup>

Bias and prejudice means a hostile feeling or spirit of ill-will, or undue friendship or favoritism, towards one of the litigants.<sup>3</sup>

Passion means to be swayed by feelings, not consistent with honest intention.<sup>4</sup> It includes fear, hate, love, and joy and violent and intense emotions.<sup>5</sup>

The actions of judges and commissioners and their verbal expressions give view to their attitudes of bias, prejudice,

---

<sup>1</sup>Fleck v King Co., 558 P2d 254 (Wash. App. 1977).

<sup>2</sup>Beall v Reidy, 457 P2d 376 (N.M. 1968).

<sup>3</sup>In re Guardianship of Styer, 536 P2d 717 (Ariz. App.).

<sup>4</sup>Town of Clinton v Davis, 177 SW2d 848 (Tennessee).

<sup>5</sup>People v. Garnier, 213 P2d 111 (California).

The deportment of the administrative judge and the irrelevant statements of the commission without basis in the evidence were prejudicial. Personal opinions outside the scope of the proceedings which the judge and commission are mandated by statute to objectively review are within the definitions stated above.

Whether plaintiffs are janitors, President of the United States, doctors, or even PSC commissioners should bear no relevancy, materiality, or competency to the questions before the Commission. But they have let themselves lower their required integrity to the detriment of the justice of the public administration system.

Was there proper evidentiary grounds upon which the Public Service Commission and its administrative judge made its conclusions?

Findings of the commission must be supported by substantial evidence.<sup>1</sup> Is it there? No. The administrative judge and the commission talks about impact on rates and costs of administrative proceedings. But they have no evidence in the record upon which to rave on and on. Decisions of the commission must be based upon evidence adduced at the hearing and cannot be based upon reports and decisions not made a part of the proceedings in chief or by reference.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>Big K Corp v PSC, 689 P2d 1349 (Utah 1984)

<sup>2</sup>Utah Power & Light Co. v. PSC, 152 P2d 542 (Utah, citing earlier Utah cases).

Was there findings on all material issues of the case?

An examination of the record discloses that the plaintiffs presented evidence showing the unreasonableness and unjustness of the tariffs in question, testimony was aduced by the defendant's own employee witness as to the different tariffs in existence at the time of the pertinent transfers of bills and the lack of study of the lawfulness of, the reasonableness of, and the justness of the proposed reversion back to the tariff previously in existence but supposedly "inadvertantly" changed in a general tariff revision in several states where Mountain Bell operates.

However, no findings can be had regarding justness, reasonableness, and lawfulness. No conclusions can likewise be found. The administrative judge and commission completely sidestepped interpretation of the tariffs as to the definition of "customer" and as to the lawfulness of them, particularly in light of a supreme court case of 1978 from this very court, the supreme court of this state, telling both the phone utility Mountain Bell and the Public Service Commission itself what the public policy of this state is regarding the transfer of business sills to personal residence accounts.<sup>1</sup> But the employee of Mountain Bell said he oeever at all even looked at or compared the case law of this state in putting the tariffs together.

---

<sup>1</sup>Josephson v Mountain Bell, 576 P2d 850 (Utah 1978).

THE PRESENT TARIFF REGARDING TRANSFER OF BILLS TO OTHER ACCOUNTS IS UNLAWFUL UNDER STATUTORY AND CASE LAW, THE PSC IMPROPERLY AVOIDED CONSTRUCTION OF THE WORD "CUSTOMER" IN MOUNTAIN BELL'S TARIFFS, AND THE PSC IMPROPERLY AVOIDED INTERPRETATION OF THE TARIFFS PREVIOUSLY AND NOW IN EXISTENCE REGARDING TRANSFER OF ACCOUNT BALANCES FROM ONE PHONE NUMBER TO ANOTHER.

Is the present tariff regarding transfer of bills to other accounts unlawful under the statutory and case law of the State of Utah?

Has the Public Service Commission improperly avoided construction of the word "customer" in Mountain Bell's tariffs?

Has the Public Service Commission improperly avoided interpretation of the tariffs then and now in existence and is the tariff on transfer of accounts from one phone number to another presently in existence lawful and constitutional?

What issues should the PSC hear and what issues should be left to the district court to hear regarding plaintiffs' district court complaint and did the administrative judge inappropriately restrict the issues to be heard and then fail to properly address even the issues he said he would decide?

The broad powers of the PSC have just recently been acknowledged again.<sup>1</sup> But from those powers, there are no inherent regulatory powers.<sup>2</sup> The powers all come from that granted to it by the legislature.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>Utah Power & Light v PSC, 24 UAR 24 (December 17, 1985, Utah).

Recently this honorable court has said:

Tortious or contractual liability which does not not call in question the validity of orders of the PSC or trench upon its delegated powers are [by statute and for which the PSC can give appropriate relief] subject to the jurisdiction of the district court.<sup>1</sup>

The question is what "calls in question" in the fact situation of this case?

Also, what are PSC orders? Do they incorporate all tariffs because the PSC ordered the tariff's approval? What is "delegated powers" in this fact situation?

Can the district court go ahead and decide improper disconnection without prior determination of the validity of the tariff by the PSC?

These are all questions which the district court and the parties need enlightenment on from the High Court before the proceedings on the district court level can resume after the decision of the High Court in this matter.

A reading of the PSC and the district court complaints needs to be done and a determination made by the High Court as to what is appropriate for the PSC to hear and what is not. I don't think there is much more law which can be set forth. It is just a matter of what the High Court's opinion is. Please clarify the issues for us for the administrative judge didn't seem to know and the commission seems very foggy also.

---

<sup>3</sup>Idaho St. Homebuilders v Wash. Water Power, 690 P2d 350 (Id .984).

<sup>1</sup>Atkin Wright & Miles v Mt. Bell, 709 P2d 230 (Utah 1985).

The commission has been told it must take jurisdiction to supervise and regulate all of the business of public utilities and to do all things necessary or convenient in carrying out the exercise of such power.<sup>1</sup>

This honorable court has said this means that the commission has the responsibility to determine the relative rights and obligations between a utility and the consumer.<sup>2</sup>

The commission in this case must serve in an advisory capacity to the district court. To refuse to exercise its responsibility in such regard for the benefit of the district court when it is mandated to do certain things by the legislature, denies the aggrieved party a remedy by putting him in a catch 22 situation. He can't proceed with the district court proceeding until the PSC decides certain things and the PSC won't rule on interpretation of the tariffs in question nor will they consider the situation of the lawfulness of the tariff because the PSC says it is moot since a terminated phone at a personal residence has been reconnected.

Regarding mootness, our supreme court has said that one need not violate law to test the validity of a statute or rule.<sup>3</sup>

Our supreme court has recently recognized our Utah Constitution's open court privilege to everyone to have their controversies heard. Our state constitution also recognizes

---

<sup>1</sup>See 54-4-1 UCA 1953.

<sup>2</sup>North Salt Lake v St. Joseph W. & I. Co., 223 P2d 577 (Utah).

<sup>3</sup>Kesler & Sons Const. Co v Ut. St. Div. Health, 513 P2d 1017 (Ut 1973).

other important rights to enjoy and defend liberties, to protect property, and to protest against wrongs and petition for redress of grievances<sup>1</sup> These rights will be frustrated if the PSC is allowed to sidestep its legislative mandates.

In examining the situation in this case, the PSC and administrative judge completely misunderstood the PSC's function and made mistakes regarding general law.

The PSC must follow established law, however. There is no way of avoiding the law. The PSC has the following legislative mandate to obey:

[The commission shall see] that the provisions of the Constitution and statutes of this state affecting public utilities are enforced and obeyed.<sup>2</sup>

In addition, the statute the PSC and administrative judge should have looked at in the Public Utilities law but didn't states that the commission shall determine just, reasonable, and sufficient calssifications, rules, regulations, practices, and contracts, and shall fix the same by order.<sup>3</sup>

The commission shall also determine and prescribe rules and regulations, which are just, reasonable, proper, and ádequate or sufficient by establishing rules, regulations, practices, services, or methods to be observed, furnished, enforced, and employed.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 25 UAR 30, 32 (Utah 1985); Art. 1, Secs. 1 and 2, Utah Constitution.

<sup>2</sup>See 54-7-21 UCA 1953.

<sup>3</sup>See 54-7-20 UCA 1953.

<sup>4</sup>See 54-4-7 UCA 1953.

It is the duty of the PSC not to take a passive stance in protecting the public interest.<sup>1</sup> And the PSC must give a party a full and fair opportunity to present evidence and contentions on the issues raised and to have adequate considerations and a correct determination of them.<sup>2</sup>

What should the administrative judge and PSC done? They should have looked at the pertinent tariffs, compared them with existing law, and made a determination in accordance with the strict construction mandated by this honorable court as to their lawfulness, justness, reasonableness, and constitutionality along with changing them if they are not.

The standard of construction mandated by Utah law has been stated:

These observations are pertinent: They are filed by the utilities themselves and thus mainly serve their own interests. They should be construed strictly against the utility; and the utility should be required to strictly comply with them; and they must be fair, reasonable, and lawful.<sup>3</sup>

The tariffs which should have been looked at are:

A2.2.1 DEFINITION OF TERMS  
CUSTOMER

A person, firm, corporation, or governmental agency responsible for paying the telephone bills and for complying with the rules and regulations of the Company.

A2.2.3.2(4) PAYMENT OF BILLS [In effect 6-84 to 3-85]

---

<sup>1</sup>Big K Corp v PSC, 689 P2d 1349 (Utah 1984).

<sup>2</sup>Armored Motos Serv. v PSC, 464 P2d 582 (Utah 1970)/

<sup>3</sup>Josephson v Mountain Bell, 576 P2d 850, 852 (Utah 1978).

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