1986

McCune and McCune, et al, v. Mountain Bell Telephone, McCune and McCune, et al, v. Public Service Commission of Utah: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The tariff in question provided that when a customer is indebted to Mountain Bell for prior service, Mountain Bell may transfer the debt to the customer's account for present service. As a general partner, George McCune is jointly liable and hence indebted to Mountain Bell for the partnership's debt. Thus, the tariff permits the partnership's debt to be transferred to McCune's individual account for business service.

The Public Service Commission's interpretation of the tariff to allow cross-billing of a dissolved partnership's debt to the account of one of the partners was within its authority, was reasonable, and was appropriate under the facts of this case. This Court should accord considerable deference to the Commission's decision on this question involving the application of law (the tariff) to specific facts. The Commission did not act with bias, prejudice or passion.

The transfer of the partnership's debt to McCune's individual account did not violate his constitutional rights. Due process does not apply because no state action was involved. With respect to equal protection, there is no evidence that he was treated differently from others similarly situated. McCune's statutory rights were not violated

because the tariff in question, as interpreted by the Public Service Commission, is just and reasonable, both on its face and as applied. McCune's common law rights were not violated, because Mountain Bell followed the tariff procedure. Josephson v. Mountain Bell, 576 P.2d 850 (Utah 1978), is distinguishable on its facts, and in any event should be overruled.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN INTERPRETING THE TARIFF TO PERMIT MOUNTAIN BELL TO TRANSFER A PARTNERSHIP DEBT FOR TELEPHONE SERVICE TO THE BUSINESS ACCOUNT OF A GENERAL PARTNER.

The central issue of this case is whether Mountain Bell was entitled to transfer a delinquent account for telephone service rendered to a partnership, since dissolved, to a current account for business service being rendered to one of the partners, under the following tariff provision:

In the event a customer is indebted to the Company for charges and services previously rendered in Utah, or for services under one or more numbers at the same location, and the customer does not pay the charges or satisfy such indebtedness, the Company may charge and bill such indebtedness for a residence account against the same customer's residence service or a business account against the customer's business service.

(Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph - Utah General Exchange Tariff A2.2.3.2(3)).

The Public Service Commission determined that Mountain Bell's action was authorized by the tariff and was reasonable under the circumstances (R. 197-203). The order

dismissing McCune's complaint necessarily implied the Public Service Commission's conclusion that the tariff is just and reasonable, both on its face and as applied (R. 203).

A. The Public Service Commission has the power to interpret a tariff.

The Public Service Commission has broad power to regulate the utility business of public utilities. Utah Code Ann. § 54-4-1 provides:

General jurisdiction. The commission is hereby vested with power and jurisdiction to supervise and regulate every public utility in this state, and to supervise all of the business of every such public utility in this state, and to do all things, whether herein specifically designated or in addition thereto, which are necessary or convenient in the exercise of such power and jurisdiction

See White River Shale Oil Corp. v. Public Service Commission, 700 P.2d 1088, 1093 (Utah 1985).

Such power includes the power to approve, suspend or modify the schedules and regulations filed by a utility. E.g. Utah Code Ann. §§ 54-3-7, 54-3-8, 54-3-23, 54-4-2, 54-4-7, 54-7-13. This extensive regulatory authority necessarily implies the Commission's power to interpret or construe a utility's regulations with respect to the facts of a particular case, and to determine the rights and obligations between utilities and consumers. See Mountain Bell v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, 681 P.2d 1258 (Utah 1984); North Salt Lake v. St. Joseph Water & Irrigation, Co., 118 Utah 600, 223 P.2d 577 (1950). Thus, the Public Service Commission

was well within its jurisdiction to interpret the tariff at issue in this case.

- B. The standard of review of a Public Service Commission order interpreting a tariff is to uphold the order if it is reasonable or rational.

In Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, 658 P.2d 601 (Utah 1983) [Wexpro II], this Court established a three part formula for review of administrative agency decisions:

1. With regard to interpretation of general questions of law, this Court applies a correction-of-error standard, giving no deference to the expertise of the Commission. Id. at 608.

2. With regard to findings of basic fact, the Court gives the greatest deference to the agency's findings, reversing only where they are so without foundation in fact that they must be deemed capricious and arbitrary. Id. at 608-09.

3. With respect to mixed questions of law and fact, or the application of findings of basic facts to the legal rules governing the case, or the "ultimate" findings of the agency on reasonableness and discrimination, or the agency's decision on questions of "special law", this Court gives "considerable weight" or "great deference" to the agency's decision, upholding such decisions if they fall within the limits of reasonableness or rationality. Id. at 609-12.

See Utah Code Ann. § 54-7-16. See also, Big K Corp. v. Public Service Commission, 689 P.2d 1349 (Utah 1984).

This third standard of review applies here because this case involves the application of a tariff, which is the law governing the relation between a utility and its customers, see Atkin, Wright & Miles v. Mountain Bell, 709 P.2d 330 (Utah 1985), to specific facts. The Commission determined that under the tariff Mountain Bell may transfer a partnership debt for telephone service to the individual account of one of the general partners. Under the intermediate standard of review applicable here, this Court should give great deference to that decision, and should affirm it if it falls within the "outer limits of reasonableness". See Wexpro II, supra, at 611.

C. The Public Service Commission's order is reasonable and should therefore be upheld.

The Public Service Commission's determination that the tariff permitted cross-billing of a partnership account to the individual account of a general partner is reasonable, both from a legal perspective and on a practical basis.

Utah statutory law provides unequivocally that a general partner is personally liable for the debts of the partnership:

All partners are liable:

. . .

- (2) Jointly for all other [non-tort/non-breach of trust] debts and obligations of the partnership

Utah Code Ann. § 48-1-12.

That a partner's liability for contractual debts is joint, rather than joint and several (as in subparagraph 1 of the same section), is simply a procedural restriction on a creditor who seeks to enforce a debt through judicial means. That is, all partners are necessary parties to a lawsuit to enforce such a debt against any one of them. See Palle v. Industrial Commission, 79 Utah 47, 7 P.2d 284, 287-88 (1932); cf. Kemp v. Murray, 680 P.2d 758 (Utah 1984) (all partners are necessary parties to an action to collect a debt to the partnership). The fact remains, however, that each partner is personally indebted for partnership obligations. See definition of "liability" in Black's Law Dictionary 1059 (4th Rev.Ed. 1968). Therefore, notwithstanding the fact that Mountain Bell would have to join James McCune in any judicial action to recover the debt from George McCune, George McCune is still indebted to Mountain Bell for \$317.29, representing the McCune & McCune debt for telephone service.

Under the tariff language (see supra p.7), the only prerequisites to cross-billing are (1) that George McCune

was a customer of Mountain Bell and (2) that he was indebted to Mountain Bell for charges and services previously rendered in Utah. At the time of the transfer, he was clearly a customer of Mountain Bell, with current working business service, and he was indebted to Mountain Bell for charges and services previously rendered. Note that the tariff language does not say "charges and services rendered to that customer under his or her own name", or similar language. It simply requires a customer to be indebted to Mountain Bell for prior charges and services.

The tariff does not require Mountain Bell to obtain a judicial declaration of indebtedness, as by obtaining a judgment against a partner on a partnership account. McCune's insistence that Mountain Bell must first obtain a judgment against the partnership and exhaust its assets before proceeding against a partner is misplaced. This is not a case of judicial collection of a debt nor of an extra-judicial attempt to execute on McCune's personal assets; it is a case of application of an administrative rule permitting a public utility to deny continuing service to a customer who fails to satisfy a past due obligation.

The Commission's interpretation of the tariff also makes practical sense. Cross-billing encourages payment by a responsible party. Payment of such indebtedness contributes to the utility's earnings, thus reducing the need for rate

increases. Cross-billing places the burden for such debts where it belongs, rather than on other ratepayers. From a cost-effectiveness standpoint, to the extent cross-billing results in payment, it is a much more efficient means of collection than any other alternative, such as collection agencies, attorneys, or even internal collection efforts. The policy which denies service to a customer who fails to pay past indebtedness is eminently fair; it does not impose any new obligation on the customer, nor does it permit Mountain Bell to recover more than what is owed. It simply benefits the public by reducing collection costs, and cuts off credit to those who abuse credit by not paying for prior service.

As applied to this case, not only is the tariff just and reasonable, but Mountain Bell would be derelict not to use it. The partnership was dissolved more than a year before the transfer took place (R. 197, 198). The account is undisputed and relatively small (R. 91). McCune has refused to give any explanation why the partnership account has not been paid, or whether it will ever be paid, or if so, when (R. 88). Mountain Bell stands the risk of losing the account altogether by virtue of the running of the statute of limitations. The cost of recovering it through judicial means makes that alternative unattractive and detrimental to

other ratepayers. Under these circumstances, it is reasonable to expect a partner such as George McCune to shoulder the responsibility for paying the partnership debt, at the risk of not having further telephone service if he fails to do so.

Under the standard of review applicable to this case, this Court should affirm the Public Service Commission Order, because it falls well within the bounds of reasonableness.

D. The Public Service Commission did not act with bias, prejudice or passion.

McCune's allegations of improper treatment received at the hands of the Public Service Commission cannot be supported by the record. McCune's Brief refers to testimony given at the hearing. (Brief of Appellant p. 11). However, McCune opted not to order a copy of the transcript of the hearing, and is therefore forced to rely on the Report and Order.

In the absence of a transcript, this Court must assume that the proceedings were conducted fairly. Bevan v. J. H. Construction Co., Inc., 669 P.2d 442 (Utah 1983). There can be no doubt that McCune was given ample opportunity to present his case. That he received an adverse ruling is not grounds for a claim of prejudice sufficient to reverse the Commission's Order. Reversal for bias must be based on

evidence of a judge's personal hostility toward a party, not on the tribunal's opinion as to the merits of the case, Haslam v. Morrison, 113 Utah 14, 190 P.2d 520 (1948); there is no evidence in the record that any feelings expressed by the Administrative Law Judge or the Commission were based on anything other than the evidence and material facts of this case.

- E. The Public Service Commission properly determined that issues regarding the disconnection of James McCune's residence service were moot.

McCune complains that the Commission failed to address the disconnection of the residence service of James McCune, holding it to be a moot question. To do so, however, would require the Commission to render an advisory opinion where it does not have power to grant appropriate relief (money damages in this case). Furthermore, McCune would have an available remedy on that claim in the district court, which is the appropriate forum to pursue a tort action for wrongful disconnection. See Atkin, Wright & Miles v. The Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company, 709 P.2d 330 (Utah 1985); Josephson v. Mountain Bell, 576 P.2d 850 (Utah 1978).

The Public Service Commission does not have the power to award general damages, cf. Garkane Power Association v. Public Service Commission, 681 P.2d 1196, 1207 (Utah 1984) (an order for reparation under Utah Code Ann. § 54-7-20 is

not the equivalent of a contract action for damages in a district court); the only relief it could grant for a wrongful disconnection would be to order the utility to restore service and waive the restoral charges. See, e.g. Utah Code Ann. §§ 54-7-20, 54-7-24. That had already taken place before the Complaint was filed. Thus, the Public Service Commission correctly determined that the complaint was moot as to James and Arlene McCune.

II. MOUNTAIN BELL DID NOT VIOLATE ANY CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY OR COMMON LAW RIGHTS OF MCCUNE BY TRANSFERRING THE PARTNERSHIP DEBT TO HIS PROPRIETORSHIP ACCOUNT.

A. There was no violation of constitutional rights.

McCunes assert that they have been denied due process because of the disconnection or threat of disconnection of telephone service without notice and a hearing. There is a substantial question whether one would be deprived of life, liberty or property by virtue of disconnection of telephone service. See Jackson v. Metropolitan Edison Co., 419 U.S. 345, 348 n.2 (1974). More importantly, however, McCunes are not entitled to constitutional due process in this situation because a public utility's actions in disconnecting service do not constitute state action. In Jackson v. Metropolitan Edison Co., 419 U.S. 345, 350 (1974), the United States Supreme Court stated:

"The mere fact that a business is subject to state regulation does not by itself convert its action into that of the State for purposes of the 14th Amendment."

The effect of the decision was to uphold the right of the defendant, a public utility, to disconnect service to the plaintiff for failure to pay a prior bill, without notice or hearing. Jackson is dispositive of McCune's constitutional challenges in this case. Furthermore, McCune's equal protection argument fails for lack of any evidence that Mountain Bell treated him differently than others similarly situated. See Malan v. Lewis, 693 P.2d 661, 671 (Utah 1984).

B. There was no violation of statutory law.

The statutory standard for validity of tariff provisions is set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 54-3-1:

... All rules and regulations made by a public utility affecting or pertaining to its charges or service to the public shall be just and reasonable. (Emphasis added).

That section further provides:

The scope of the definition "just and reasonable" may include, but shall not be limited to, the cost of providing service to each category of customer, economic impact of charges on each category of customer, and on the well-being of the State of Utah. . . .

The tariff permitting the transfer of indebtedness to current accounts is just and reasonable, both on its face and as applied to the facts of this case. See discussion, supra, pp. 10-15.

C. There was no violation of common law.

Cross-billing and disconnection have been upheld judicially where authorized by tariff. In Morse v. Pacific Gas

& Electric, 152 Cal.App.2d 854, 314 P.2d 192 (1957), the Court approved the disconnection of electrical service to a subscriber at one residence when he had failed to pay for service at another residence, under a tariff provision similar to the one at issue here. See also, Dworman v. Consolidated Edison Co. of New York, Inc., 271 N.Y.S.2d 363 (1966) (allowing cross-billing from business to residence); Denham v. Southwestern Bell Telephone Co., 415 F.Supp. 530, 534 (W.D. Okla. 1976). Cf., Northern Ohio Telephone Co. v. Public Utilities Commission, 9 Ohio St. 2d 153, 224 N.E.2d 528 (1967) (denying the utility's right to disconnect at locations other than where the default took place because the applicable tariff did not allow cross-billing).

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